THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Judge

Case No. 2022-000162

Tammy Batten West,

Appellant

v.

American Honda Motor Company, Inc.,

Respondent.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

LAW OFFICES OF BROOKS R. FUDENBERG, LLC  
Brooks R. Fudenberg  
14 Ashe Street  
Charleston, SC 29403  
Tel.: (843) 416-2558  
eFax: (910) 401-1242  
BRF@Fudenberglaw.com

C. STEVEN MOSKOS, P.A.  
C. Steven Moskos  
6650 Rivers Ave., Ste 210  
N. Charleston, SC 29406  
Tel. (843) 763-5297  
Steve@moskoslawfirm.com

Attorneys for Appellant

**RECEIVED**

**Jun 08 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

#

QUESTION PRESENTED .....	
OVERVIEW.....	
BACKGROUND LAW .....	
STATEMENT OF THE CASE.....	
Consumer’s Motion .....	
Manufacturer’s Opposition.....	
Consumer’s Reply.....	
The Order .....	
Consumer’s Motion for Reconsideration.....	
Order on Motion to Reconsider .....	
STATEMENT OF FACTS .....	
A.    Consumer Attempts to Get the Vehicle Fixed .....	
B.    Consumer Attempts to Obtain Her Lawful Remedy Without Having to Hire an Attorney .....	
C.    Consumer’s Attorney Attempts to Obtain Her Lawful Remedy .....	
STANDARD OF REVIEW .....	
ARGUMENT .....	
The lower court erred in cutting the prevailing plaintiff’s fee request by morethan 70% and awarding no costs under a consumer-protection statute that provides for fees and costs.....	
I.    The Lemon Law’s Fee-Shifting Provision Is a One-Way Consumer Protection Fee-Shifting Provision. ....	
II.   Law Governing One-Way Consumer Protection Fee-Shifting Provisions.....	
A.    The Purpose of the Lemon Law’s Fee-Shifting Provision Is to Encourage Consumers to Bring Lemon Law Cases.....	

B. The Lemon Law and Its Fee-Shifting Provision Are to Be Broadly  
Construed to Fulfill Their Purpose .....

C Against This Backdrop, Our Supreme Court Has Repeatedly Held that  
Fees Are Not Apportioned Between a Statutory Cause of Action and  
Other Claims in the Same Lawsuit, with Certain Limited Exceptions,  
Not Applicable Here. ....

III. Application.....

A. The Lower Court Erred in Misapplying *Nix* and Ignoring *Austin*. ....

B. Other Points .....

1) Fee awards are to be based on actual time expended.....

2. Premature cut-off? .....

C. A Seventy-Percent Reduction Is Unreasonable .....

D. The Lower Court Erred in Failing to Award Costs.....

Conclusion .....

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### CASES

<i>Allen v. Union Oil &amp; Mfg. Co.</i> , 59 S.C. 571, 38 S.E. 274 (1901).....	
<i>Amos v. Commissioner</i> , 86 T.C.M. (CCH) 663 (T.C. 2003) .....	
<i>Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Co.</i> , 387 S.C22, 691 S.E.2d 135 (2010) .....	
<i>City of Chester v. Addison</i> , 277 S.C. 179, 284 S.E.2d 579 (1981) .....	
<i>Covenant Mut. Ins. Co. v. Young</i> , 179 Cal. App. 3d 318, 225 Cal. Rptr. 861 (Cal. App. 2d Dist. 1986).....	
<i>Custom Molders, Inc. v. Am. Yard Prod., Inc.</i> , 463 S.E.2d 199 (N.C. 1995).....	
<i>Ducworth v. Neely</i> , 31.9 S.C. 158, 459 S.E.2d 896 (Ct. App. 1995).....	
<i>In re Treatment &amp; Care of Luckabaugh</i> , 351 S.C. 122, 568 S.E.2d 338 (2002) .....	
<i>Inabinet v. Royal Exch. Assur. of London</i> , 165 S.C. 33, 162 S.E. 599 (1932))	
<i>Jackson v. Speed</i> , 326 S.C. 289, 486 S.E.2d 750 (1997) .....	
<i>Layman v. State</i> , 376 S.C. 434, 658 S.E.2d 320 (2008).....	
<i>Marshall v. Miller</i> , 276 S.E.2d 397 (N.C. 1981) .....	
<i>Mockabee v. Wakefield Buick, Inc. and First Citizens Bank</i> , 298 S.C. 386, 380 S.E.2d 848 (Ct. App. 1989) .....	
<i>Maybank v. BB&amp;T Corp.</i> , 416 S.C. 541, 787 S.E.2d 498 (2016) .....	
<i>Rish v. Rish</i> , 296 S.C. 14, 370 S.E.2d 102 (Ct. App. 1988).....	
<i>Riverside v. Rivera</i> , 477 U.S. 561, 577 (1986) .....	
<i>South Carolina Dep't of Mental Health v. Hanna</i> , 270 S.C. 210, 241 S.E.2d 563 (1978)....	
<i>State v. Corey D.</i> , 339 S.C. 107, 529 S.E.2d 20 (2000).....	
<i>Taylor v. Medenica</i> , 331 S.C. 575, 503 S.E.2d 458 (1998) .....	
<i>Taylor v. Nix</i> , 307 S.C. 551, 416 S.E.2d 619 .....	

STATUTES

South *Carolina* Enforcement of Motor Vehicle Warranty Act (“Lemon Law”),  
§ 56-28-10 *et seq.* ..... passim

RULES

Rule 68, SCRCP.....

OTHER AUTHORITY .....

South Carolina Bar Ethics Advisory Opinion 10-04 .....

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE**

Did the lower court err in cutting the prevailing plaintiff's fee request by more than 70% and awarding no costs under a consumer-protection statute that provides for fees and costs?

## **OVERVIEW**

In awarding fees under a consumer-protection fee-shifting statute, the lower court erroneously reduced the requested award by more than seventy percent. It did so by ignoring the Supreme Court's opinion in *Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp.* and misconstruing that Court's decision in *Taylor v. Nix*.

## **BACKGROUND LAW**

This is an appeal under the costs- and fees-shifting provision of the "Lemon Law," the South Carolina Enforcement of Motor Vehicle Warranty Act, § 56-28-10 *et seq.* That Act requires automotive manufacturers to replace or repurchase a vehicle if the manufacturer has been unable to repair the vehicle "after a reasonable number of attempts." § 56-28-40. The Act presumes a reasonable number of attempts have been made if the problem has been subject to repair "three or more times" or "the vehicle is out of service by reason of repair for a cumulative total of thirty or more calendar days" during the express warranty period. § 56-28-50(A).

However, consumers cannot enforce the Act unless they send the manufacturer a letter offering a final chance to repair the vehicle. § 56-28-50 (B)-(E). If the manufacturer has established a non-binding "arbitration" process, the consumer must go through that process as well. § 56-28-60. If a consumer prevails in an action brought under the Act, that consumer may recover costs and expenses, including attorney's fees "based on actual time expended," unless the court decides in its discretion an award of attorney's fees would be inappropriate. (*Id.* ¶ D).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Tammy West (“Consumer” or “Tammy”) filed her Summons and Complaint on November 9, 2018. (Summons & Compl.). It concerned a new Honda CR-V she purchased from a dealer licensed by Respondent American Honda Motor Company, Inc. (“Manufacturer” or “Honda”). She had brought the vehicle to Manufacturer’s franchisee multiple times for repairs that did not fix the problem. (Complaint). Tammy had sent a certified letter to Honda detailing the alleged problem with the vehicle and the attempts at repair, offering Honda a final opportunity to repair it. (Let. to Honda).

Consumer had also participated in Manufacturer’s in-house non-binding “arbitration” process. (*Id.* ¶ 43).

The Complaint alleged Manufacturer had violated state and federal warranty law (common law warranties, the South Carolina Enforcement of Motor Vehicle Warranty Act, §56-28-10 *et seq.* (“Lemon Law”) and the federal Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. 2301 *et seq.*) and two related consumer-protection statutes (the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (“UTPA”), S.C. Code. Ann. §39-5-10 *et. seq.*, and the South Carolina Regulation of Manufacturers, Distributors and Dealers Act (“Dealers Act”), S.C. Code. Ann. §§ 56-15-10 *et. seq.*). (Compl.)

Manufacturer’s Answer was filed December 18, 2018 (Answer). The Answer repeatedly “denie[d] that the subject 2017 Honda CR-V was defective, was ‘unrepaired’ or had ‘deficiencies.’” (*Id.* p. 5 ¶ 39; *see also* p. 6 ¶ 40 (similar); p. 5 ¶ 38 (similar)). The Answer listed twelve affirmative defenses, one of which contained 19 separate defenses, which would make a total of 30 affirmative defenses. (*Id.* pp. 10-13). Among other defenses, it maintained any alleged defects do not substantially impair the vehicle’s “use, market value, or safety” (Third Defense, p. 10); that Tammy’s damages were caused by herself (Fifth Defense, pp. 10-11) and by third-parties

(Sixth Defense, p. 11); “[A]ccord and satisfaction, arbitration and award, contributory negligence, comparative negligence, assumption of the risk, waiver, equitable estoppel, judicial estoppel, failure of consideration, fraud, illegality, injury by fellow servant, laches, license, payment, release, res judicata, collateral estoppel, statute of frauds” and others (Eighth Defense, p. 11); and it “affirmatively alleges that Plaintiff may have waived any right she may have had to bring this action by virtue of her acts, omissions, conduct, and direct dealings” (Eleventh Defense, p. 12).

Manufacturer filed a putative “Offer of Judgment” on April 3, 2020, purportedly pursuant to Rule 68, SCRCP. (OOJ). Manufacturer’s offer purported to incorporate provisions in a release that was “attached to” and “included with” the offer (*id.* pp. 2-3), yet the release was not filed, attached, or included. Consumer’s Motion to Strike the Offer of Judgment, filed November 14, 2020 (R. pp. \_\_-\_\_), argued the putative offer of judgment was defective as it did not contain the terms of the offer (*id.* p. 2). Consumer further maintained that if this release was like the releases Manufacturer’s counsel had been sending to her counsel, which all had contained confidentiality provisions, there would be another problem, as Rule 68 requires the court to determine whether the final verdict was more favorable to the offeree than was the offer, and it would be very difficult if not impossible for the Court to determine whether a verdict—which would not contain a confidentiality provision—was more favorable to Plaintiff than an offer containing a confidentiality provision. (*Id.* pp. 1-2).

The lower court denied the motion to strike by Form 4 order on January 27, 2021. (R. pp. \_\_).

Consumer moved for summary judgment on her Lemon Law claim on November 14, 2020. (Mot.) The motion was at first denied by Form 4 order (Order) on January 27, 2021, but following Consumer’s Motion to Amend or Alter Judgment (Mot.) and Manufacturer’s Response thereto

(Resp.) the order was amended on March 15, 2021 to grant summary judgment only as to liability (Am. Order p. 2).

With liability established, and a trial on damages set for that week, counsel for the parties agreed in open court on Monday, May 17, 2021, that Manufacturer would pay Consumer \$34,776.51 on the Lemon Law claim; that Consumer would voluntarily dismiss her other causes of action; and that the parties would submit the issue of costs and attorney fees to the court. (Order p. 4 (“this matter was on the jury roster”); Tr. Hr’g 5/17/2021, R. p. \_\_, 3:9-10 (Manufacturer to pay \$34,776.51); R. p. \_\_, 3:18-19 (parties will submit the issue of fees and costs to the court); R. p. \_\_, 3:24 (“this week we would have been trying the damages portion”); R. p. \_\_, 3:25-4:2 (Consumer to withdraw other claims); R. p. \_\_, 4:6-11 (Consumer to withdraw other claims and submit an affidavit of fees and costs)).

**Consumer’s Motion.** Consumer moved for attorney fees and costs on May 21, 2021. She attached an affidavit of fees and costs, supporting affidavits, detailed timesheets, and a brief in support (Mot. etc.) and filed an amended brief two days later. (Am. Br.).

She requested compensation for 182.8 hours of attorney time at \$450 an hour (Am. Br. pp. 10, 27) and presented affidavits from two Horry County attorneys, Nate Fata and L. Sidney Connor, IV, attesting that the hours spent and the hourly rate were reasonable (Fata Aff.; Connor Aff.). She sought \$82,260.00 in fees and \$2,386.28 in costs. (Am. Br. p. 27).

Her amended brief explained why the offers Manufacturer had made until the final agreement reached just before trial failed in her view to provide her with all to which she was entitled. (Am. Br. pp. 9-11). She presented the factors for determining the amount of fee awards set out in *Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 486 S.E.2d 750 (1997) (Am. Br. p. 3). She urged the lower court to use a lodestar figure as described in *Layman v. State*, 376 S.C. 434, 457, 658 S.E.2d

320, 332 (2008) and *Hensley v Eckerhart*, 461 US 424, 103 S Ct 1933, 1939, 76 L Ed 2d (1983). (Am. Br. pp. 7, 10).

She presented the process stated in *Taylor v. Nix*, 307 S.C. 551, 557, 416 S.E.2d 619, 611 (1992) to be used to determine the number of compensable hours where a claim for which attorney fees are recoverable by statute is joined with other claims.

“[W]hen an action in which attorney fees are recoverable by statute is joined with alternative theories of recovery based on the same transaction, no allocation of attorney’s services need be made except to the extent counsel admits that a portion of the services was totally unrelated to the statutory claim or it is shown that the services related to issues which were clearly beyond the scope of the statutory claim proceeding. *Accord, Heindel v. Southside Chrysler Plymouth, Inc.*, 476 So.2d 266 (Fla.App.1985). This approach requires the party asserting the right to attorney fees to produce an itemized affidavit of their fees that they believe are related to the statutory claim. The opposing party then has the burden of showing which of the fees are clearly unrelated.”

(Am. Br. p. 3) (quoting *Nix*, 307 S.C. at 557, 416 S.E.2d at 622).

She presented her view of how *Nix* applies to her case:

As stated in *Taylor v Nix*, 307 S.C. 551, 416 S.E.2d 619 (1992), a party asserting the right to attorney fees must produce an itemized affidavit of her fees that she believes are related to the statutory claim. The opposing party then has the burden of showing which of the fees are clearly unrelated. Here, counsel has provided a detailed itemized statement of time spent on the case as well as a detailed explanation of the events and negotiations that have taken place. These show that the work done was necessary and not duplicative. It is now up to Honda to show “which of the fees are clearly unrelated”.

(Am. Br. pp. 17-18) (footnote omitted).

She also delineated \$2,386.28 in costs for which she requested reimbursement. (Am. Br. p. 27).

Consumer also cited cases for the proposition that remedial measures such as the Lemon Law and its fee-shifting provision are to be liberally construed to effectuate their purpose of ensuring that pursuing the private cause of action will be economically feasible for consumers (*id.*

p. 4) and for the proposition that fees in such cases should be sufficiently large to ensure first class attorneys will handle these types of cases (*id.* p. 5).

Her counsel's affidavit supporting her motion (R. p. ) stated that the hours in his timesheets related to the statutory claim, addressed Manufacturer's having accused him of "churning" the file, explained why it would have made no sense for him to do so and pointed out that he had spent "substantial" time preparing the fee affidavit in light of Manufacturer's arguments (*id.* ¶¶ 120-21).<sup>1</sup>

**Manufacturer's Opposition.** Manufacturer filed an opposition, with 120 pages of attachments, on May 28, 2019. (R. pp. \_).

Manufacturer addressed the *Nix* issue as follows:

ii. Plaintiff's Counsel Has Not Shown What Work Was Actually Performed for the Warranty Act Cause of Action

To recover attorney's fees when a statute authorizes the permissive or mandatory recovery of fees, Plaintiff's counsel has the burden of providing an itemized affidavit of fees that shows the work related to the claims where statutory recovery of fees is allowed. *Taylor v. Nix*, 307 S.C. 551, 557, 416 S.E.2d 619, 623 (1992). This is particularly important when there is no actual fee-paying client who will provide a check and balance to the claimed amount. Counsel filed an affidavit and time sheets with his Motion for Fees, but this affidavit presents several deficiencies in identifying what work if any, was actually related to the Warranty Act cause of action. The affidavit fails to provide the number of hours reasonably incurred on the Warranty Act cause of action, which presents significant challenges in determining any amount of reasonable attorney's fees.

First, the affidavit makes no reference to whether the incurred time was spent on the Warranty Act cause of action or the other causes of action that Plaintiff voluntarily dismissed prior to trial. If Plaintiff cannot identify the portion of time directly attributable to the Warranty Act cause of action, the Court should and must proportionally decrease the amount of allowed time. *See Maybank v. BB&T Corp.*, 416 S.C. 541, 580, 787 S.E.2d 498, 518 (2016) (affirming a reduction of attorneys' fees asserted to claims where statutory

---

<sup>1</sup> Unfortunately, he left a comment in his affidavit, "Include I was not churning the file."

recovery of fees was not permitted).

(Opp'n 12).

**Consumer's Reply.** Consumer's reply, filed June 21, 2021, further discussed the analysis under *Jackson*. (Reply Br. p. 1, 3-14). She again advocated for a lodestar figure as stated in *Layman*. (*Id.* p. 2). Regarding *Nix*, she argued that Manufacturer had omitted a major portion of the analysis. (*Id.* pp. 2-3). She again provided the block quote from *Nix* in which the Supreme Court stated the relevant procedure. (*Id.*) She then argued,

Honda states, "Plaintiff's counsel has the burden of providing a itemized affidavit of fees that shows the work related to the claims where statutory recovery of fees is allowed". . . . Honda omits that the itemized affidavit of fees must only be for the time Plaintiff's counsel believes "are related to the statutory claim". That was done in this case. . . .

Honda ignores and omits *Taylor v. Nix*'s holding that only work "totally unrelated" need be excluded from a statutorily allowed fee petition. The causes of action here are intertwined as they all relate to the defects in Tammy's vehicle. All services performed are related. There is no evidence to the contrary.

A major portion of the analysis omitted by Honda is that, after Plaintiff's counsel submits his itemized affidavit, "the opposing party then has the burden of showing which of the fees are clearly unrelated." *Taylor v. Nix*, 307 S.C. 551, 416 S.E.2d 619 (1992). Honda has not objected to any specific fees being "clearly unrelated" to Tammy's Lemon Law claim. Instead, Honda makes conclusory statements about the time spent and suggests cutting time based on a percentage of the fee request. It must state specifically what time is "clearly unrelated". Having failed to do so, this factor must weigh in Tammy's favor.

(*Id.* pp. 7-8) (emphasis in original).

She requested compensation for an additional 22.5 hours of work undertaken since the submission of counsel's prior timesheets, or \$10,125.00. (*Id.* p. 16 and Ex. 1). This brought her total fee request to \$92,385.00. (*Id.*)

Her reply again explained her view that Manufacturer's offers prior to the final settlement amount were insufficient as a matter of law. (*Id.* pp. 4-7, 9-10).

**The Order.** The lower court’s order issued on June 28, 2021. (Order). It stated, “There is no dispute that Plaintiff is the prevailing party under this Act.” (*Id.* p. 4). It awarded Tammy \$27,585. It granted that amount first as “attorney’s fees” (*id.* p. 1); then stated the same amount included costs (“\$27,585 for attorney’s fees and costs”) (*id.* p. 6); then concluded the amount was for fees only (Tammy “is entitled to an award of \$27,585 for attorney’s fees reasonably incurred in this matter.”) (*id.* p. 9).

It thus reduced the fee award by \$64,800.00 from the amount of the fee request, with no award for costs. The award was thus \$67,186.28 below the combined fee-and-costs request.

The order did not state the number of hours for which it was awarding compensation, but at the \$450 hourly rate referred to in the order (Order p. 9), that would be 61.3 hours, with no award for costs. The order referred to the 182.8 hours initially requested (Order p. 7), but did not mention the 22.5 hours incurred after the initial fee request was filed.

The order cited *Nix* for the proposition that “Plaintiff’s counsel has the burden of providing an itemized affidavit of fees that shows the work related to the claims where statutory recovery of fees is allowed” (Order pp. 6-7). It made no reference to *Nix*’s immediately following statement that “The opposing party then has the burden of showing which of the fees are clearly unrelated,” 307 S.C. at 557, 416 S.E.2d at 622. Nor did it mention *Nix*’s holding, which was quoted in both Consumer’s amended brief (Am. Br. p. 3) and her reply brief (Reply. Br. pp. 2-3),

We hold when an action in which attorney fees are recoverable by statute is joined with alternative theories of recovery based on the same transaction, no allocation of attorney’s services need be made except to the extent counsel admits that a portion of the services was totally unrelated to the statutory claim or it is shown that the services related to issues which were clearly beyond the scope of the statutory claim proceeding.

The order then stated (*id.* p. 7) (emphasis in original),

In conducting this detailed review of the affidavit and time sheets, it presents several challenges in determining the time necessarily devoted to

the case. First, there are no specific references in the timesheets to the Warranty Act cause of action, versus the other causes of action initially identified and then dismissed by counsel. It is difficult for the Court to determine the amount of time reasonably incurred in the prosecution of the Warranty Act cause of action.

In a footnote, the order cited *Maybank v. BB&T Corp.*, 416 S.C. 541, 787 S.E.2d 498 (2016) for the proposition that the Supreme Court “has affirmed decisions by the trial court reducing claims for attorney’s fees . . . . (affirming a reduction of attorneys’ fees asserted to claims where statutory recovery of fees was not permitted).” (Order p. 7 n.2).

It found the “approximately 37 to 42.4 hours in preparing the fee motion, affidavit, and supporting materials” to be “substantial,” and the “20.9 hours prior to the commencement of this lawsuit” were “necessary and reasonably incurred.” (*Id.* p. 7). The order made no other findings regarding hours spent.

The order further stated that “The evidentiary record before the Court identifies that Honda made multiple offers to repurchase the 2017 CR-V prior to November 11, 2018, and that Honda’s offers to repurchase the 2017 CR-V were made consistent with its obligations under the Warranty Act” (*id.* pp. 2-3; *see also id.* pp. 4-5, 7 (similar)), but did not specify whether this meant simply that the act of making an offer was consistent with the Warranty Act or that the offers themselves amounted to a full and complete offer to pay all that the Warranty Act requires.

**Consumer’s Motion for Reconsideration.** Moving for reconsideration on July 8, 2021, Tammy asked the lower court to rule on the additional 22.5 hours incurred after the motion for fees was filed (Mot. Recon. p. 2). She also asked the court to provide an allowance for costs. (*Id.* pp. 7, 8).

Tammy’s motion also argued that the order’s reference to *Nix* omitted a crucial aspect of that case, i.e., that Manufacturer, as the party opposing the fee request, has “the burden of showing

which of the fees are clearly unrelated.” (Mot. Recon. p. 3) (quoting *Nix*). She additionally argued that the order misread *Maybank v. BB&T Corp.*, 416 S.C. 541, 787 S.E.2d 498 (2016) and *Mockabee v. Wakefield Buick, Inc. and First Citizens Bank*, 298 S.C. 386, 380 S.E.2d 848 (Ct. App. 1989) (Mot. Recon. p. 4-5).

Tammy further pointed out that the award amounted to only 29.11% of the amount requested, and complained that was too draconian a cut, citing *Rish v. Rish*, 296 S.C. 14, 15-16, 370 S.E.2d 102, 103 (Ct. App. 1988) (Mot. Recon. p. 5).

---

**Order on Motion to Reconsider.** The motion was denied on January 18, 2022 (Order on Mot. Recon.) (“Plaintiff’s Motion to Amend, Alter, or Reconsider Judgment sets forth no evidence or applicable law that indicates a basis to disturb or alter this Court’s well-reasoned judgment in determining the appropriate amount of attorney’s fees in this matter.”) (Order on Mot. Recon. p. 3). The order did not address the question of costs.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Tammy purchased a new 2017 Honda CR-V on March 2, 2017 from a dealer authorized by Manufacturer. (Order p. 1). The vehicle came with a 3 year/36,000 mile bumper to bumper warranty. (West Aff. 1/22/21 Ex. 6 p. 7.)

**A. Consumer Attempts to Get the Vehicle Fixed.**

Unfortunately, as described below, the vehicle soon showed a problem. Tammy tried hard to get the problem fixed. Manufacturer was unable to fix it.

Specifically, indicator lights kept turning on for no apparent reason. These included the Collision Mitigation warning and the Road Departure warning, as well as the Adaptive Cruise Control indicator.

These lights began illuminating on April 4, 2017, barely a month after the purchase. (West Aff. ¶ 9 January 1, 2021 & Exs. 8, 9, and 10.) Consumer brought the vehicle in for repair of this problem on April 14, 2017. (*Id.* ¶ 11 & Ex. 11). She did so again on October 4 (*Id.* ¶ 13 & Ex. 21). Honda's agent for warranty repairs, East Coast Honda, replaced the radar assembly. (*Id.*) She brought the vehicle back for the same problem two weeks later on October 17. (*Id.* ¶ 14 & Ex. 22). East Coast Honda updated the radar software (Ex. 22) and aimed the radar (*Id.* Ex. 22). She brought it in again on May 17, 2018 for the same problem (*Id.* Ex. 24). They again updated the software and diagnosed a "faulty unit." (*Id.*) And again on June 11 because the warning light and signal kept coming up on the dash. (*Id.* Ex. 25). They again replaced the radar. (*Id.*) They gave the vehicle back to her on June 12. (*Id.*) Two days later, she brought the vehicle in again for the same problem. (*Id.* Ex. 26).

They gave the vehicle back to her on June 20. (*Id.*)

On July 2, it was back in the shop again: the lights were coming back on again. (*Id.* Ex. 27). They gave the vehicle back to her on July 19, seventeen days after she had brought it in. (*Id.*)

It was back in the shop four days later on July 23 for the same problem. (*Id.* Ex. 28).

They gave the vehicle back to her on July 25. (*Id.*)

She brought it back to the shop the next day for the same problem. (*Id.* Ex. 29).

She brought it back again on August 24 for the same problem. (*Id.* Ex. 30).

She received the vehicle back on August 29, and brought it back again on September 7: the warning lights were back on. (*Id.* Ex. 31).

Between April 14, 2017 and September 9, 2019, the vehicle was out of service 73 days, according to Matt Martin, the Service Manager of Honda's licensee. (Martin Dep. 27:14-16).

Consumer thus met the criteria under the South Carolina warranty law to compel Manufacturer to choose between repurchasing the vehicle or replacing it. That law allows consumers to require the manufacturer to select one of those options if the manufacturer has had three attempts to repair the same problem **or** the vehicle has been out of service for 30 calendar days during the express warranty period.<sup>2</sup> Manufacturer’s authorized agent had had **eleven** repair opportunities **and** had kept the vehicle out of service **73** days.

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