RECEIVED

Oct 21 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2022-000162

Tammy Batten West, Appellant

v.

American Honda Motor Co., Inc., Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BOWMAN AND BROOKE, LLP
Patrick J. Cleary, Esq.
1441 Main Street, Suite 1200
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 726-7420
Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when determining the amount of reasonable attorney's fees to which Plaintiff is entitled in this case.

The trial court, following the briefing of both parties, determined an award of attorney's fees pursuant to the Warranty Act and the six factors governing an award of attorney's fees under South Carolina case law. (R. pp. 35-36). Well-settled case law holds that the trial court's determination of the appropriate amount of attorney's fee to award plaintiff was *not* an abuse of discretion. *Kiriakides*, 382 S.C. at 20, 675 S.E.2d at 445. "Where an attorney's services and their value are determined by the trier of fact, an appeal will not prevail if the findings of fact are supported by *any* competent evidence." *Baron*, 297 S.C. 384, 377 S.E.2d at 296 (emphasis added) (citing *Singleton v. Collins*, 251 S.C. 208, 161 S.E.2d 246 (1968)). The plain language of the Warranty Act indicates an attorney's fee award is permissive, not mandatory, and the trial court is directed to make its own determination of a reasonable amount:

"(D) Any consumer who finally prevails in any action brought under this chapter, **may** be allowed by the court to recover as part of the judgment a sum equal to the aggregate amount of cost and expenses (including attorney's fees based on actual time expended) and other such costs which are directly attributable to the nonconformity of the motor vehicle **determined by the court to have been reasonably incurred** by the plaintiff for or in connection with the commencement and prosecution of such action, **unless the court in its discretion** determines that such an award of attorney's fees would be inappropriate."

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-28-50(D) (1976) (emphasis added). Like other statutes awarding attorney's fees to the prevailing party, the trial court applies well-settled South Carolina law when determining the amount of fees awarded to those reasonably incurred to obtain the repurchase remedy provided in the Warranty Act. The language of the Warranty Act clearly imbues the trial court with discretion, and "[w]here the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has

no right to impose another meaning.” *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000).

- a. **The trial court correctly applied the six factors from *Baron* when determining Plaintiff’s attorney’s fees award and included sufficiently detailed factual findings and conclusions of law.**

In *Baron*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina enumerates six non-controlling factors for a trial court to consider when determining a reasonable amount of attorney’s fees. 297 S.C. 384–85, 377 S.E.2d at 297. Those six factors are (1) the nature, extent and difficulty of services rendered; (2) the time and labor necessarily devoted to the case; (3) the professional standing of counsel; (4) the contingency of compensation; (5) the fee customarily charged in the locality for similar legal services; and (6) the beneficial results obtained. *Id.* The trial court must consider each factor in determining reasonable attorney’s fees and no single factor is controlling. *Id.* (citing *Darden v. Witham*, 263 S.C. 183, 209 S.E.2d 42 (1974)).

The parties fully briefed the issue of Plaintiff’s request for attorney’s fees, and the trial court received and considered “the relevant Court record, Plaintiff’s Motion for Fees, Brief in Support and supporting exhibits, Plaintiff’s Affidavits and itemized time statement, [Honda’s] Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion, and [Honda]’s Affidavit and supporting documents.” (R. p. 31). Applying all six factors, the trial court articulated specific factual findings and conclusions of law for each and issued Plaintiff an award of \$27,585 consistent with the Warranty Act, well-settled case law, and the facts of this case. (R. pp. 36-39). There was no abuse of discretion in this case, nor any misapplication of the *Baron* factors to the facts.

II. The trial court was not required to automatically accept as reasonable the amount of attorney’s fees requested by Plaintiff.

On appeal, the gravamen of Plaintiff’s argument is that the trial court was *required* to accept the amount of attorney’s fees requested by Plaintiff unless good cause was shown that the

amount requested was unreasonable. (Final Brief of Appellant at 31–34). Plaintiff presents no case law that supports such an argument or that would create any such construct for the trial court. This interpretation also misreads the plain language of the Warranty Act (S.C. Code Ann. § 56-28 - 50(D) (1976)) (“Any consumer who finally prevails in any action brought under this chapter, may be allowed by the court to recover . . . attorney’s fees based on actual time expended[.] . . . determined by the court to have been reasonably incurred).

a. Plaintiff incorrectly presents *Taylor* and *Stokes* with respect to the trial court’s discretion to determine the amount of reasonable fees.

Citing *Taylor v. Nix* and *Austin v. Stokes-Craven*, Plaintiff incorrectly argues that the trial court committed reversible error by apportioning Plaintiff’s work on the case between the work performed on the Warranty Act cause of action, and the work performed on the other causes of action which Plaintiff voluntarily dismissed. (Final Brief of Appellant at 31) (citing *Taylor*, 307 S.C. 551, 557, 416 S.E.2d 619, 622 (1992) and *Austin*, 387 S.C. 22, 57, 691 S.E.2d 135, 153 (2010)). Plaintiff misreads both *Taylor* and *Austin*, as neither case alters the discretion of the trial court to determine what it concludes is the appropriate and reasonable amount of time spent on a given cause of action and to determine the attorney’s fees awarded under the plain language of the Warranty Act, nor does either case hold that apportionment of fees is improper amongst causes of action. Indeed, a trial court is *required* to apportion attorney’s fees between causes of action on which a party prevails, and those causes of action to which a plaintiff is not entitled to fees. *See Rice v. Multimedia, Inc.*, 318 S.C. 95, 100, 456 S.E.2d 381, 384 (1995) (upholding trial court’s reduced award because plaintiff only partially prevailed).

Nix holds that a party asserting the right to attorney’s fees must produce an itemized affidavit of their fees (and by extension time) that they believe are related to the statutory claim that they prevailed upon. 307 S.C. at 557, 416 S.E.2d at 623. Additionally, *Nix* is distinguishable

because the plaintiff in that case prevailed on several causes of action, whereas Plaintiff in this case prevailed only on the Warranty Act claim. *Id.* at 555, 416 S.E.2d at 621.

In this case, the trial court pointed out that Plaintiff's attorney did *not* delineate which time entries represent work performed related to the Warranty Act, which is the only cause of action that Plaintiff prevailed on and the only basis for which Plaintiff is entitled to recover attorney's fees. (R. p. 37). The trial court, therefore, after review of the affidavit submitted by Plaintiff's counsel, determined what it considered an appropriate amount of time counsel spent on the Warranty Act, and based its award on that determination. (R. pp. 37-38).

b. The trial court appropriately determined the amount of attorney's fees, and there is no basis to substantially disagree with that determination.

Plaintiff also incorrectly argues that what it considers is an inadequate fee award is inherently an abuse of discretion, because the trial court only awarded 29.9% of what Plaintiff requested. (Final Brief of Appellant at 26) (citing *Rish v. Rish*, 296 S.C. 14, 15–16, 370 S.E.2d 102, 103 (Ct. App. 1988)). The amount of attorney's fees to be awarded is within the discretion of the trial judge provided the award is reasonable, and courts have held that awarding 10 or 15 percent of the requested fees by the prevailing party is reasonable. *See, e.g., Farmers and Merchants Bank v. Fargnoli*, 274 S.C. 23, 26, 260 S.E.2d 185, 187 (1979) (holding the trial court's order awarding 10% of attorney's fees demanded was not an abuse of discretion); *Assoc. Comm. Corp. v. Hammond*, 285 S.C. 277, 279, 330 S.E.2d 82, 83 (Ct. App. 1985) (affirming a trial court's determination to award 15% of the amount of attorney's fees requested by the prevailing party).

And *Rish* itself holds that the trial court's determination of attorney's fees will not be disturbed on appeal unless there is "substantial or violent disagreement" with the trial court's decision. 296 S.C. at 16, 370 S.E.2d at 103. Plaintiff presents no argument or evidence to support such a conclusion by this Court. To the contrary, the trial court reviewed the submissions of the

parties, applied the controlling law, made evidentiary findings, and made its determination of an appropriate and reasonable fee award.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the trial court's award of \$27,585 to the prevailing Plaintiff pursuant to the Warranty Act. The trial court evaluated the briefing and supporting affidavits of both parties and determined an appropriate amount of attorney's fees and costs based on its application of controlling South Carolina law to the facts of this case. The trial court articulated findings of fact in support of its decision, animated by competent references to the record. Appellant does not cite any legal authorities that require this Court to disturb the well-reasoned decision of the trial court.